# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

		_	
(Mark One) ☑ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUAN' 1934	Г TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) C	OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF	7
	For the quarterly period ended June OR	30, 2019	
☐ TRANSITION REPORT UNDER SE	CTION 13 OF 15(d) OR THE	EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934	
	Commission File Number 001-30	6075	
	OKE PHARM A	•	
Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation)		– 20-8447886 (IRS Employer Identification No.)	
420 Stevens Avenue, Suite 370, Solan (Address of principal executive of		92075 (Zip Code)	
	's telephone number, including area c		
<b>Title of each class</b> Common Stock, par value \$0.0001 per share	Trading symbol EVOK	Name of each exchange on which registered The Nasdaq Capital Market	
		ection 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing	
		ata File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of period that the registrant was required to submit such	
Regulation S-1 (§232.405 of this chapter) during the p files). Yes $oxtimes$ No $oxtimes$	, ,		
files). Yes ⊠ No □ Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a larg emerging growth company. See the definitions of "larg	e accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a	n non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an "smaller reporting company," and "emerging growth com	pany
files). Yes ⊠ No □ Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a largenerging growth company. See the definitions of "largin Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act: Large accelerated filer □	e accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a	"smaller reporting company," and "emerging growth com Accelerated filer	
files). Yes ⊠ No □  Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large emerging growth company. See the definitions of "largin Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act:  Large accelerated filer □  Non-accelerated filer ⊠	e accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a	"smaller reporting company," and "emerging growth com	_
files). Yes 🗵 No 🗆  Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a largemerging growth company. See the definitions of "largin Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act:  Large accelerated filer 🖂  Non-accelerated filer 🖾  Emerging growth company 🗆  If an emerging growth company, indicate by check ma	e accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a e accelerated filer," "accelerated filer, " rk if the registrant has elected not to use	"smaller reporting company," and "emerging growth com  Accelerated filer  Smaller reporting company  the extended transition period for complying with any new	
files). Yes ⊠ No □  Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a largemerging growth company. See the definitions of "largin Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act:  Large accelerated filer □  Non-accelerated filer ⊠  Emerging growth company □	e accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a e accelerated filer," "accelerated filer, " rk if the registrant has elected not to use ant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Ac	Accelerated filer  Accelerated filer  Smaller reporting company  the extended transition period for complying with any new  t. □	

# EVOKE PHARMA, INC.

# FORM 10-Q

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION	1
<u>Item 1. Financial Statements</u>	1
Condensed Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2019 (Unaudited) and December 31, 2018	1
Condensed Statements of Operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 (Unaudited)	2
Condensed Statements of Stockholders' Equity for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 (Unaudited)	3
Condensed Statements of Cash Flows for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 (Unaudited)	4
Notes to Condensed Financial Statements (Unaudited)	5
Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	12
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk	19
Item 4. Controls and Procedures	19
PART II. OTHER INFORMATION	20
<u>Item 1. Legal Proceedings</u>	20
Item 1A. Risk Factors	20
<u>Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds</u>	25
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities	25
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure	25
Item 5. Other Information	26
<u>Item 6. Exhibits</u>	27
SIGNATURES	28

i

# PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

# **Item 1. Financial Statements**

# Evoke Pharma, Inc.

# **Condensed Balance Sheets**

	June 30, 			December 31, 2018
Assets				
Current Assets:	¢.	7 440 070	ď	F 210 004
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	7,440,079	\$	5,319,004
Prepaid expenses		109,739		329,218
Other current assets		11,551		
Total current assets		7,561,369		5,648,222
Operating lease right-of-use asset		69,795		
Other assets	<del> </del>			11,551
Total assets	\$	7,631,164	\$	5,659,773
Liabilities and stockholders' equity				
Current Liabilities:				
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	\$	407,517	\$	476,202
Accrued compensation		807,706		1,158,251
Operating lease liability		69,795		_
Total current liabilities		1,285,018		1,634,453
Stockholders' equity:				
Common stock, \$0.0001 par value; authorized shares - 50,000,000;				
issued and outstanding shares - 24,113,956 and 17,427,533		2 411		1.740
at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively		2,411		1,743
Additional paid-in capital		89,027,832		82,628,312
Accumulated deficit		(82,684,097)		(78,604,735)
Total stockholders' equity	<del> </del>	6,346,146		4,025,320
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$	7,631,164	\$	5,659,773

 $See\ accompanying\ notes\ to\ these\ unaudited\ condensed\ financial\ statements.$ 

# Evoke Pharma, Inc.

# **Condensed Statements of Operations**

# (Unaudited)

	Three Months Ended June 30,				Six Months Ended June 30,			
	2019			2018	2019			2018
Operating expenses:								
Research and development	\$	1,205,599	\$	1,388,791	\$	1,952,481	\$	2,774,157
General and administrative		918,139		917,305		2,141,152		1,949,550
Total operating expenses		2,123,738		2,306,096		4,093,633		4,723,707
Loss from operations		(2,123,738)		(2,306,096)		(4,093,633)		(4,723,707)
Other income:								
Interest income		9,642		2,902		14,271		4,335
Gain from change in fair value of warrant liability		_		_		_		433,392
Total other income		9,642		2,902		14,271		437,727
Net loss	\$	(2,114,096)	\$	(2,303,194)	\$	(4,079,362)	\$	(4,285,980)
Net loss per share of common stock, basic and diluted	\$	(0.09)	\$	(0.14)	\$	(0.20)	\$	(0.27)
Weighted-average shares used to compute basic and diluted net loss per share		23,258,567	_	16,425,468	_	20,371,442	_	15,926,253

 $See\ accompanying\ notes\ to\ these\ unaudited\ condensed\ financial\ statements.$ 

# Evoke Pharma, Inc. Condensed Statements of Stockholders' Equity

Œ	naudited)	

	Commo	n Sto	ck	Additional Paid-In	A	Accumulated	St	Total ockholders'
	Shares	Aı	mount	Capital		Deficit		Equity
Balance at January 1, 2019	17,427,533	\$	1,743	\$82,628,312	\$	(78,604,735)	\$	4,025,320
Stock-based compensation expense	_		_	378,959		_		378,959
Issuance of common stock, net	450,000		45	636,387		_		636,432
Net loss						(1,965,266)		(1,965,266)
Balance at March 31, 2019	17,877,533		1,788	83,643,658		(80,570,001)		3,075,445
Stock-based compensation expense	_		_	344,841		_		344,841
Issuance of common stock, net	6,236,423		623	5,039,333		_		5,039,956
Net loss						(2,114,096)		(2,114,096)
Balance at June 30, 2019	24,113,956	\$	2,411	\$89,027,832	\$	(82,684,097)	\$	6,346,146
	Commo	n Sto	ck	Additional Paid-In	A	Accumulated	St	Total ockholders'
	Shares		mount	Capital		Deficit		Equity
Balance at January 1, 2018	15,413,610	\$	1,541	\$ 73,202,863	\$	(71,038,655)	\$	2,165,749
Stock-based compensation expense	_		_	393,775				393,775
Issuance of common stock, net	268,870		27	544,616				544,643
Reclassification of warrant liability due to warrant amendment	_		_	3,267,885		_		3,267,885
Net loss				5,207,005		(1,982,786)		(1,982,786)
Balance at March 31, 2018	15,682,480		1,568	77,409,139	-	(73,021,441)	-	4,389,266
Stock-based compensation expense				387,429		(75,021,111)		387,429
Issuance of common stock, net	1,216,184		122	2,886,755		_		2,886,877
Net loss	, ., .,		_	, ,		(2,303,194)		(2,303,194)
Balance at June 30, 2018	16,898,664	\$	1,690	\$80,683,323	\$	(75,324,635)	\$	5,360,378

See accompanying notes to these unaudited condensed financial statements.

# Evoke Pharma, Inc.

# **Condensed Statements of Cash Flows**

# (Unaudited)

Six	Months Ended
	I 20

	June 30,			
		2019		2018
Operating activities				_
Net loss	\$	(4,079,362)	\$	(4,285,980)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:				
Stock-based compensation expense		723,800		781,204
Change in fair value of warrant liability		_		(433,392)
Change in operating assets and liabilities:				
Prepaid expenses and other assets		285,496		167,364
Accounts payable and other current liabilities		(485,247)		(808,904)
Net cash used in operating activities		(3,555,313)		(4,579,708)
Financing activities				
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net		5,676,388		3,431,520
Net cash provided by financing activities		5,676,388		3,431,520
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents		2,121,075		(1,148,188)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period		5,319,004		7,679,267
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$	7,440,079	\$	6,531,079
Non-cash financing activities				
Reclassification of warrant liability to equity due to amendment of warrants		<u> </u>	\$	3,267,885

See accompanying notes to these unaudited condensed financial statements.

#### Evoke Pharma, Inc.

# Notes to Condensed Financial Statements (Unaudited)

#### 1. Organization and Basis of Presentation

Evoke Pharma, Inc. (the "Company") was incorporated in the state of Delaware in January 2007. The Company is a specialty pharmaceutical company focused primarily on the development of drugs to treat gastroenterological disorders and disease.

Since its inception, the Company has devoted substantially all of its efforts to developing its sole product candidate, Gimoti<sup>TM</sup>, and has not realized revenues from its planned principal operations. The Company filed a 505(b)(2) New Drug Application ("NDA") for Gimoti with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration ("FDA") on June 1, 2018, and on April 1, 2019, the Company received a Complete Response Letter ("CRL") from FDA for the NDA. The CRL stated that FDA has determined it cannot approve the NDA in its present form and provided recommendations to address the two remaining approvability issues in an NDA resubmission. The approvability issues are related to clinical pharmacology and product quality/device quality. FDA did not request any new clinical data and did not raise any safety concerns.

On July 25, 2019, the Company completed a type A meeting with FDA to obtain FDA's feedback and agreement on the Company's plan to address deficiencies cited in the CRL in support of a resubmission of the Gimoti NDA. The focus of the discussion was on topics noted in the CRL, including the root cause analysis of low drug exposure in the comparative bioavailability study and additional product quality/device quality control testing.

Based on FDA feedback and the meeting minutes, the Company will include its root cause analysis and previously collected patient use and experience information in its resubmission package. The Company also agreed to provide an analysis of pump performance characteristics on the nasal spray devices used in the comparative bioavailability study and 3-month stability data from commercial scale batches of Gimoti which the Company initiated manufacturing in June 2019. No additional human clinical trials were requested by FDA and the Company plans to resubmit the Gimoti NDA in the fourth quarter of 2019.

The Company does not anticipate realizing revenues until FDA approves the NDA and the Company begins commercializing Gimoti, which events may never occur. The Company's activities are subject to the significant risks and uncertainties associated with any specialty pharmaceutical company that has substantial expenditures for research and development, including funding its operations.

#### **Going Concern**

The Company has incurred recurring losses and negative cash flows from operations since inception and expects to continue to incur net losses for the foreseeable future until such time, if ever, that it can generate significant revenues from the sale of Gimoti. Although the Company ended the second quarter of 2019 with approximately \$7.4 million in cash and cash equivalents, the Company anticipates that it will continue to incur losses from operations due to pre-approval and pre-commercialization activities, including interactions with FDA on the Company's NDA submission for Gimoti, responding to approvability issues raised in the CRL received from FDA, manufacturing of registration, and potentially commercial batches of Gimoti, and general and administrative costs to support operations. As a result, the Company believes that there is substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date these financial statements are issued.

The determination as to whether the Company can continue as a going concern contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. In its report on the Company's financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company's independent registered public accounting firm included an explanatory paragraph expressing substantial doubt regarding the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

The Company's net losses may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year. The Company believes, based on its current operating plan, that its existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to fund its operations into the second quarter of 2020. If Gimoti is approved by FDA, additional funds will become available from the Novos Growth, LLC ("NGP") Working Capital Loan and the NGP Credit Agreement, as disclosed in Note 6. Under either situation, the Company will be required to raise additional funds through debt, equity or other forms of financing, such as potential collaboration arrangements, to fund future operations and continue as a going concern.

There can be no assurance that additional financing will be available when needed or on acceptable terms. If the Company is not able to secure adequate additional funding, the Company may be forced to make reductions in spending, extend payment terms with suppliers, and/or suspend or curtail planned programs. Any of these actions could materially harm the Company's business, results of operations, financial condition and future prospects. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to further develop Gimoti, if required, and resubmit and receive FDA approval of the Gimoti NDA. Because the Company's business is entirely dependent on the success of Gimoti, if the Company is unable to secure additional financing or identify and execute on other

development or strategic alternatives for Gimoti or our company, the Company will be required to curtail all of its activities and may be required to liquidate, dissolve or otherwise wind down its operations.

#### **Notice of Delisting**

On May 15, 2019, the Company received a letter from Nasdaq indicating that, for the last thirty consecutive business days, the bid price for the Company's common stock had closed below the minimum \$1.00 per share requirement for continued listing on The Nasdaq Capital Market.

In accordance with Nasdaq listing rules, the Company has been provided an initial period of 180 calendar days, or until November 11, 2019, to regain compliance. The letter states that Nasdaq will provide written notification that the Company has achieved compliance with its rules if at any time before November 11, 2019, the bid price of the Company's common stock closes at \$1.00 per share or more for a minimum of ten consecutive business days. The Nasdaq letter has no immediate effect on the listing or trading of the Company's common stock and the common stock will continue to trade on The Nasdaq Capital Market.

The Company intends to monitor the bid price of its common stock and consider available options if its common stock does not trade at a level likely to result in the Company regaining compliance with Nasdaq's minimum bid price rule by November 11, 2019.

If the Company does not regain compliance with Nasdaq listing rules by November 11, 2019, the Company may be eligible for an additional 180 calendar day compliance period. To qualify, the Company would be required to meet the continued listing requirement for market value of publicly held shares and all other initial listing standards for The Nasdaq Capital Market, with the exception of the bid price requirement, and would need to provide written notice of its intention to cure the deficiency during the second compliance period, by effecting a reverse stock split, if necessary. However, if it appears to Nasdaq that the Company will not be able to cure the deficiency, or if the Company is otherwise not eligible, Nasdaq would notify the Company that its securities would be subject to delisting. In the event of such a notification, the Company may appeal Nasdaq's determination to delist its securities, but there can be no assurance Nasdaq would grant the Company's request for continued listing.

#### 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying condensed balance sheet as of December 31, 2018, which has been derived from audited financial statements, and the unaudited interim condensed financial statements, have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") and follow the requirements of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") for interim reporting. As permitted under those rules, certain footnotes or other financial information that are normally required by GAAP can be condensed or omitted. In management's opinion, the unaudited interim financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as the audited financial statements and include all adjustments, which include only normal recurring adjustments, necessary for the fair presentation of the Company's financial position and its results of operations and its cash flows for the periods presented. These statements do not include all disclosures required by GAAP and should be read in conjunction with the Company's financial statements and accompanying notes for the year ended December 31, 2018, which are contained in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 6, 2019. The results for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results expected for the full fiscal year or any other interim period.

#### **Use of Estimates**

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.

# **Contract Research Organizations and Consultants**

The Company relies on contract research organizations ("CROs") and consultants to assist with ongoing regulatory discussions and submissions supporting the NDA. If these CROs and consultants are unable to continue their support, this could adversely affect FDA's review of the NDA.

In addition, the Company relies on third-party manufacturers for the production of Gimoti. If the third-party manufacturers are unable to continue manufacturing Gimoti, or if the Company loses one of its sole source suppliers used in its manufacturing processes, the Company may not be able to meet any development needs or commercial supply demand for Gimoti, if approved by FDA, and the development and/or commercialization of Gimoti could be materially and adversely affected.

The Company also relies on third-party sales and marketing organizations for the management of the pre-commercial launch preparation for Gimoti, as well as for a dedicated sales team to sell Gimoti, if approved by FDA. If such third-party organizations are unable to continue managing the launch preparation, or serving as a dedicated sales team, the commercialization of Gimoti could be materially and adversely affected.

#### **Warrant Accounting**

In March 2018, the Company entered into warrant amendments (the "Warrant Amendments") with each of the holders of the Company's outstanding warrants to purchase common stock issued on July 25, 2016 and August 3, 2016 (the "Warrants"). As a result of the Warrant Amendments, the Warrants are no longer classified as a liability on the Company's balance sheet, were adjusted to fair value as of the date of the Warrant Amendments, and were reclassified to additional paid-in capital, a component of stockholders' equity.

Prior to the Warrant Amendments, the Warrants were classified as warrant liability and recorded at fair value. These Warrants contained a feature that could have required the transfer of cash in the event a change of control occurred without the authorization of our board of directors, and therefore, were classified as a liability in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Accounting Standards Codification 480, *Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity*.

This warrant liability was subject to remeasurement at each reporting date and the Company recognized any change in the fair value of the warrant liability in the statement of operations. The Company continued to adjust the carrying value of the warrants for changes in the estimated fair value until the date of the Warrant Amendments.

#### **Stock-Based Compensation**

Stock-based compensation expense for stock option grants and employee stock purchases under the Company's Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP") is recorded at the estimated fair value of the award as of the grant date and is recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the employee's requisite service period. The estimation of stock option and ESPP fair value requires management to make estimates and judgments about, among other things, employee exercise behavior, forfeiture rates and volatility of the Company's common stock. The judgments directly affect the amount of compensation expense that will be recognized.

The Company grants stock options to purchase common stock to employees and members of the board of directors with exercise prices equal to the Company's closing market price on the date the stock options are granted. The risk-free interest rate assumption was based on the yield of an applicable rate for U.S. Treasury instruments with maturities similar to those of the expected term of the award being valued. The weighted-average expected term of options and employee stock purchases was calculated using the simplified method as prescribed by accounting guidance for stock-based compensation. This decision was based on the lack of relevant historical data due to the Company's limited historical experience. In addition, due to the Company's limited historical data, the estimated volatility was calculated based upon the Company's historical volatility and, if necessary, supplemented with historical volatility of comparable companies in the biotechnology industry whose share prices are publicly available for a sufficient period of time. The assumed dividend yield was based on the Company never paying cash dividends and having no expectation of paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

#### **Research and Development Expenses**

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred and primarily include compensation and related benefits, stock-based compensation expense and costs paid to third-party contractors for product development activities and drug product materials. The Company expenses costs relating to the purchase and production of pre-approval inventories as research and development expense in the period incurred until FDA approval is received.

The Company does not own or operate manufacturing facilities for the production of Gimoti, nor does it plan to develop its own manufacturing operations in the foreseeable future. The Company currently depends on third-party contract manufacturers for all of its required raw materials, drug substance and finished product for its pre-commercial product development. The Company has agreements with Cosma S.p.A. to supply metoclopramide for the manufacture of Gimoti, and with Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., who acquired Patheon UK Limited, for product development and manufacturing of Gimoti. The Company currently utilizes third-party consultants, which it engages on an as-needed, hourly basis, to manage product development and manufacturing contractors.

#### **Net Loss Per Share**

Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss by the weighted-average number of common stock outstanding for the period, without consideration for common stock equivalents and adjusted for the weighted-average number of common stock outstanding that are subject to repurchase. The Company excluded 30,165 and 37,582 shares of common stock subject to repurchase from the weighted-average number of common stock outstanding for the three and six months ended June 30, 2018, respectively. Since the Company's repurchase right lapsed upon the filing of the NDA in June 2018, the Company no longer has any common stock subject to repurchase. Diluted net loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss by the weighted-average number of common stock equivalents outstanding for the period determined using the treasury-stock method. Dilutive common stock equivalents are comprised of common stock subject to repurchase, warrants to purchase common stock, options to purchase common stock under the Company's equity incentive plans and potential shares to be purchased under the ESPP. For the periods presented, the following table sets forth the outstanding potentially dilutive securities that have been excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share because their inclusion would be anti-dilutive:

	Three Month June 3		Six Months Ended June 30,		
	2019	2018	2019	2018	
Common stock subject to repurchase		30,165	_	37,582	
Warrants to purchase common stock	2,713,561	2,797,561	2,713,561	2,797,561	
Common stock options	3,232,871	3,017,624	3,232,871	3,017,624	
Employee stock purchase plan	<u></u>	19,144	<u> </u>	26,047	
Total excluded securities	5,946,432	5,864,494	5,946,432	5,878,814	

#### **Recent Accounting Pronouncements**

In February 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2016-02, *Leases* (Topic 842). The new standard establishes a right-of-use ("ROU") model that requires a lessee to record a ROU asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than 12 months. The Company adopted this standard effective January 1, 2019, as required. The Company determines if an arrangement is a finance lease, operating lease or short-term lease at inception. The Company elected the "package of practical expedients," which permits the Company not to reassess prior conclusions about lease identifications, lease classification and initial direct costs. The Company also elected not to separate lease and non-lease components when certain conditions are met. As discussed in Note 3, the Company's only significant lease is its facility lease, which expires on December 31, 2019, and is classified as an operating lease.

#### 3. Commitments

#### **Facility Lease**

In December 2016, the Company entered into an operating lease for office space in Solana Beach, California. The lease commenced on January 1, 2017, was extended in September 2018, and has an expiration date of December 31, 2019. According to ASU No. 2016-02, the Company recognized an operating lease ROU asset and liability based on the present value of the future minimum lease payments over the lease term at the commencement date, using the Company's assumed incremental borrowing rate, and then amortizes the ROU assets and liabilities over the lease term. The Company applies a discount rate to the minimum lease payments within the lease agreement to determine the value of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. Unless the rate implicit in the lease is determinable, ASU No. 2016-02 requires the use of the rate of interest that a lessee would have to pay to borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term for a similar amount to the lease payments in a similar economic environment. The Company noted that the implicit rate in the lease was not determinable and calculated its incremental borrowing rate primarily based on the Company's assumed borrowing rate of 12%. On January 1, 2019, the Company recorded an operating lease ROU asset and liability of approximately \$136,000 based on the present value of the remaining minimum lease payments. During the six months ended June 30, 2019, operating lease ROU asset and liability were included in prepaid expenses and other assets and accounts payable and other current liabilities, respectively, on the statement of cash flows.

Rent expense for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 was approximately \$36,000 and \$35,000, respectively. Rent expense for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 was approximately \$74,000 and \$69,000, respectively. The Company also pays pass through costs and utility costs, which are expensed as incurred.

# 4. Technology Acquisition Agreement

In June 2007, the Company acquired all worldwide rights, data, patents and other related assets associated with Gimoti from Questcor Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("Questcor") pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement. The Company paid Questcor \$650,000 in the form of an upfront payment and \$500,000 in May 2014 as a milestone payment based upon the initiation of the first patient dosing in the Company's Phase 3 clinical trial for Gimoti. In August 2014, Mallinckrodt, plc ("Mallinckrodt") acquired Questcor. As a result of that acquisition, Questcor transferred its rights included in the Asset Purchase Agreement with the Company to Mallinckrodt. In addition to the payments previously made to Questcor, the Company may also be required to make additional milestone payments totaling up to \$52 million. In March 2018, the Company and Mallinckrodt amended the Asset Purchase Agreement to defer development and approval milestone payments, such that, rather than paying two milestone payments based on FDA acceptance for review of the NDA and final product marketing approval, the Company would be required to make a single \$5 million payment one year after the Company receives FDA approval to market Gimoti.

The remaining \$47 million in milestone payments depend on Gimoti's commercial success and will only apply if Gimoti receives regulatory approval. In addition, the Company will be required to pay Mallinckrodt a low single digit royalty on net sales of Gimoti. The Company's obligation to pay such royalties will terminate upon the expiration of the last patent right covering Gimoti, which is expected to occur in 2032.

#### 5. Stockholders' Equity

# At the Market Equity Offering Program

In November 2017, the Company filed a shelf registration with the SEC on Form S-3. The shelf registration statement includes a prospectus for the at-the-market offering to sell up to an aggregate of \$16.0 million of shares of the Company's common stock through B. Riley FBR, Inc. ("FBR") as a sales agent (the "FBR Sales Agreement"). During the six months ended June 30, 2018, the Company sold 1,485,054 shares of common stock at a weighted-average price per share of \$2.38 pursuant to the FBR Sales Agreement and received proceeds of approximately \$3.4 million, net of commissions and fees. During the six months ended June 30, 2019, the Company sold 6,686,423 shares of common stock at a weighted-average price per share of \$0.87 pursuant to the FBR Sales Agreement and received proceeds of approximately \$5.7 million, net of commissions and fees.

Future sales will depend on a variety of factors including, but not limited to, market conditions, the trading price of the Company's common stock and the Company's capital needs. There can be no assurance that FBR will be successful in consummating future sales based on prevailing market conditions or in the quantities or at the prices that the Company deems appropriate.

In addition, the Company will not be able to make future sales of common stock pursuant to the FBR Sales Agreement unless certain conditions are met, which include the accuracy of representations and warranties made to FBR under the FBR Sales Agreement. Furthermore, FBR is permitted to terminate the FBR Sales Agreement in its sole discretion upon ten days' notice, or at any time in certain circumstances, including the occurrence of an event that would be reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company's assets, business, operations, earnings, properties, condition (financial or otherwise), prospects, stockholders' equity or results of operations. The Company has no obligation to sell the remaining shares available for sale pursuant to the FBR Sales Agreement.

#### Warrants

In March 2018, the Company entered into the Warrant Amendments with each of the holders of the Company's outstanding Warrants acquired as a part of the Company's financings which closed in July and August 2016. As a result of the Warrant Amendments, all of the remaining Warrants to purchase 2,449,129 shares of the Company's common stock are no longer required to be classified as liabilities. The value of the amended Warrants was adjusted to the fair value immediately prior to the Warrant Amendments, resulting in a net gain of approximately \$433,000 in the statement of operations, and approximately \$3.3 million was reclassified from warrant liability to additional paid-in capital.

In September 2018, warrants to purchase 84,000 shares of the Company's common stock, issued to representatives of the underwriters in connection with the Company's initial public offering in September 2013, expired and were cancelled.

#### **Stock-Based Compensation**

Stock-based compensation expense includes charges related to employee stock purchases under the ESPP and stock option grants. The Company measures stock-based compensation expense based on the grant date fair value of any awards granted to its employees. Such expense is recognized over the period of time that employees provide service and earn rights to the awards.

In June 2019, the Company effected a one-time option exchange, wherein employees were offered the opportunity to exchange certain outstanding stock options for the grant of a lesser number of replacement stock options. The participants received three new stock options for every four stock options tendered for exchange. As a result, 2,456,999 stock options were exchanged for 1,842,746 replacement stock options. The replacement stock options have a four-year vesting schedule and an exercise price of \$0.62 per share, which was the closing price of the Company's common stock on the date of the option exchange. All other terms of the replacement stock options remain the same as the original stock options that were exchanged. As a result of this transaction, the Company will recognize approximately \$84,000 of additional stock-based compensation expense over the four-year vesting term of the exchanged options.

The estimated fair value of each stock option award granted was determined on the date of grant using the Black Scholes option-pricing valuation model with the following weighted-average assumptions for option grants during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018:

	Three Month June 3		Six Mont June	hs Ended e 30,
	2019 2018 2019		2019	2018
Common Stock Options				
Risk free interest rate	1.80%-2.36%	2.85%	1.80%-2.55%	2.66%-2.85%
Expected option term	4.27-5.77 years	5.5 years	4.27-6.0 years	5.5-6.0 years
Expected volatility of common stock	101.46%-112.58%	92.30%	90.34%-112.58%	90.15%-92.30%
Expected dividend yield	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%

The estimated fair value of the shares to be acquired under the ESPP was determined on the initiation date of each six-month purchase period using the Black-Scholes option-pricing valuation model with the following weighted-average assumptions for ESPP shares to be purchased during the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018:

	Six Montl June	
	2019	2018
Employee Stock Purchase Plan		
Risk free interest rate	2.52%	1.85%
Expected term	0.5 years	0.5 years
Expected volatility of common stock	130.36%	58.76%
Expected dividend yield	0.0%	0.0%

The Company recognized non-cash stock-based compensation expense to employees and directors in its research and development and its general and administrative functions as follows:

	Three Months Ended June 30,					led		
		2019		2018		2019		2018
Research and development	\$	202,117	\$	168,733	\$	354,291	\$	357,510
General and administrative		142,724		218,696		369,509		423,694
Total stock-based compensation expense	\$	344,841	\$	387,429	\$	723,800	\$	781,204

As of June 30, 2019, there were approximately \$2.7 million of unrecognized compensation costs related to outstanding employee and board of director options, which are expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.4 years.

#### 6. Commercial Services Agreement

On January 5, 2019, the Company entered into a commercial services agreement with NGP (the "NGP Agreement") for the commercialization of Gimoti. Pursuant to the NGP Agreement, NGP will manage the commercial operations for a dedicated sales team to market Gimoti, if approved by FDA, to gastroenterologists and other targeted health care providers.

Under the terms of the NGP Agreement, the Company maintains ownership of the Gimoti NDA, as well as legal, regulatory, and manufacturing responsibilities for Gimoti. The Company will also retain a contract sales organization, which would be managed by NGP. The Company will record sales for Gimoti and retain more than 80% of product profits. NGP will receive a percentage of product profits in the mid-to-high teens as a service fee (such product profit amount, the "Contribution Profits").

Pursuant to the NGP Agreement, upon any Gimoti NDA approval, NGP has agreed to finance the Company's working capital requirements for specified commercialization costs in an amount by which Contribution Profits are expected to fall (or do actually fall) below zero (as projected by sales forecasts and a commercialization budget) to be drawn by the Company on a monthly basis, as needed ("NGP Working Capital Loan"), pursuant to a credit agreement to be negotiated in good faith between the Company and NGP ("NGP Credit Agreement"). The NGP Working Capital Loan will be repaid by the Company, if at all, only out of positive Contribution Profits, unless the NGP Agreement is terminated (a) by NGP due to a material breach by the Company, or (b) by the Company other than due to the gross negligence or intentional misconduct of NGP. Termination of the NGP Agreement by NGP for any other reason (including, without limitation, minimum net sales thresholds and negative Contribution Profits, as described below) will cause the NGP Working Capital Loan to be forgiven in full. The interest rate and other terms of the NGP Working Capital Loan will be set forth in the NGP Credit Agreement.

In addition, under the NGP Agreement, NGP has agreed to provide a line of credit of up to \$5.0 million to the Company following NDA approval of Gimoti, if any, and for a period of up to nine months thereafter. The line of credit will be extended pursuant to a credit agreement between the parties. NGP will receive a low single digit percentage on net sales of Gimoti in lieu of any interest on the line of credit (the "NGP Credit Fee"); provided that in no event shall the cumulative NGP Credit Fee exceed twice the amount of the principal borrowed by the Company. The line of credit will mature on the earlier of 30 days following the date the NGP Credit Fee is twice the amount of the borrowed principal and the two-year anniversary of the date the principal is borrowed by the Company. In the event the Company secures financing from a third-party wholesale distributor for the purchase of Gimoti for launch in excess of \$2.5 million dollars, NGP will no longer be required to offer the line of credit.

The term of the NGP Agreement is five years from the date of commercial launch of Gimoti, if any, after which the Company will recapture 100% of product sales and assume all corresponding responsibilities. Within 30 days after each one-year anniversary of the NGP Agreement, either party may terminate the NGP Agreement if net sales of Gimoti do not meet certain annual thresholds. Either

party may terminate the NGP Agreement for the material breach of the other party, subject to a 60-day cure period, or in the event an insolvency petition of the other party is pending for more than 60 days. Either party may also terminate the NGP Agreement upon

30-days written notice to the other party if Gimoti is subject to a safety recall, the parties are unable to agree to a commercialization plan and budget by a specified date, or if the Contribution Profit is negative for any calendar quarter beginning with the first full calendar quarter nine months following commercial launch. In addition, NGP may terminate the NGP Agreement if the Company withdraws Gimoti from the market for more than 180 days or if the Company is unable to provide product samples for use by the salesforce in a timely manner. NGP may also terminate the NGP Agreement, including the obligation to provide a line of credit, since Gimoti was not approved by FDA by April 30, 2019, but, as of August 7, 2019, has not elected to do so. The Company may terminate the NGP Agreement upon a change of control of the Company, subject to a one-time payment equal to between four times and one times annualized service fees paid by the Company under the NGP Agreement, with such amount based on which year (between one and five years) after commercial launch the change of control occurs, provided if the change of control occurs within one year of commercial launch, such amount will be the greater of the specified annualized service fee amount and \$5 million.

#### Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and accompanying notes included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the financial statements and accompanying notes thereto for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 and the related Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, both of which are contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, on March 6, 2019. Past operating results are not necessarily indicative of results that may occur in future periods.

#### **Forward-Looking Statements**

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. All statements other than statements of historical facts contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including statements regarding our future results of operations and financial position, business strategy, prospective products, product approvals, such as the New Drug Application, or NDA, for Gimoti and our plans and expectations to address the issues raised in the Complete Response Letter, or CRL, received from U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, regulatory developments, research and development costs, timing and likelihood of success, plans and objectives of management for future operations, and future results of current and anticipated products are forward-looking statements. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other important factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statement. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terms such as "may," "will," "should," "expect," "plan," "anticipate," "could," "intend," "target," "project," "contemplates," "believes," "estimates," "predicts," "potential" or "continue" or the negative of these terms or other similar expressions. Although we believe the expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements are reasonable, such statements are inherently subject to risk and we can give no assurances that our expectations will prove to be correct. Given these risks, uncertainties and other factors, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. You should read this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q completely. As a result of many factors, including without limitation those set forth under "Risk Factors" under Item 1A of Part II below, and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements. Except as required by applicable law, we undertake no obligation to update these forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this report or to reflect actual outcomes. For all forward-looking statements, we claim the protection of the safe harbor for forward-looking statements contained in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

We use our registered trademark, EVOKE PHARMA, and our trademarked product name, GIMOTI, in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Solely for convenience, trademarks and tradenames referred to in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q appear without the ® and ™ symbols, but those references are not intended to indicate, in any way, that we will not assert, to the fullest extent under applicable law, our rights or that the applicable owner will not assert its rights, to these trademarks and tradenames.

Unless the context requires otherwise, references in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q to "Evoke," "we," "us" and "our" refer to Evoke Pharma, Inc.

#### Overview

We are a specialty pharmaceutical company focused primarily on the development of drugs to treat gastrointestinal, or GI, disorders and diseases. We are developing Gimoti, an investigational metoclopramide nasal spray for the relief of symptoms associated with acute and recurrent diabetic gastroparesis in women. Diabetic gastroparesis is a GI disorder afflicting millions of individuals worldwide and is characterized by slow or delayed gastric emptying and evidence of gastric retention in the absence of mechanical obstruction and can cause various serious digestive system symptoms and other complications. Metoclopramide tablets and injection are the only products currently approved in the United States to treat the symptoms associated with acute and recurrent diabetic gastroparesis. Gimoti is a novel nasal spray formulation of metoclopramide designed to provide systemic delivery of the molecule through the nasal mucosa. We submitted an NDA for Gimoti to FDA on June 1, 2018 and received a Day-74 FDA filing communication letter in August 2018. The letter stated that the NDA was sufficiently complete to permit a substantive review and set a target goal date under the Prescription Drug User Fee Act, or PDUFA, of April 1, 2019.

On March 1, 2019, we received a multi-disciplinary review letter, or DRL, from FDA, which provided preliminary notice of certain deficiencies identified during FDA's initial review of the Gimoti NDA. Specifically, the DRL described concerns with the information provided in the NDA that insufficient evidence had been offered regarding product quality control and reproducibility for the commercially available sprayer device used with Gimoti, that there is a lack of adequate information to support sex-based efficacy claims and that the pharmacology data provided may not demonstrate bioavailability to the Listed Drug, Reglan Tablets 10 mg. On March 14, 2019, we submitted a response to the DRL to FDA. In addition, on March 21, 2019, we had a meeting with FDA to obtain feedback on our responses.

On April 1, 2019, we received a CRL from FDA for our NDA. The CRL, which cited fewer issues than the DRL, stated that FDA has determined it cannot approve the NDA in its present form and provided recommendations to address the two remaining approvability issues in an NDA resubmission. The approvability issues are related to clinical pharmacology and product quality/device quality. FDA did not request any new clinical data and did not raise any safety concerns.

The clinical pharmacology issue was specific to a low maximum observed plasma concentration, or  $C_{max}$ , in subjects representing less than 5% of the total administered Gimoti doses in the pivotal pharmacokinetic, or PK, study. FDA stated the overall lower mean  $C_{max}$  was driven by the data from these few doses. Without the aberrant doses, our analysis shows the data met the bioequivalence criteria for both men and women, although there is no assurance that FDA will agree with our conclusion. FDA recommended a root cause analysis to determine the origin of the PK variability and mitigation strategies to address the issue. Additionally, FDA requested data from three registration batches of commercial product to be manufactured at the proposed commercial manufacturing site, by the proposed commercial process and tested using validated analytical methods. These data were requested to provide additional support for the proposed acceptance criteria for droplet size distribution and other essential performance characteristics for the commercial product specifications.

On July 25, 2019, we completed a type A meeting with FDA to obtain FDA's feedback and agreement on our plan to address deficiencies cited in the CRL in support of a resubmission of the Gimoti NDA. The focus of the discussion was on topics noted in the CRL, including the root cause analysis of low drug exposure in the comparative bioavailability study and additional product quality/device quality control testing.

Based on FDA feedback and the meeting minutes, we will include our root cause analysis and previously collected patient use and experience information in our resubmission package. We also agreed to provide an analysis of pump performance characteristics on the nasal spray devices used in the comparative bioavailability study and 3-month stability data from commercial scale batches of Gimoti which we initiated manufacturing in June 2019. No additional human clinical trials were requested by FDA and we plan to resubmit the Gimoti NDA in the fourth quarter of 2019.

On January 5, 2019, we entered into a commercial services agreement, or NGP Agreement, with Novos Growth, LLC, or NGP, for the commercialization of Gimoti. Pursuant to the NGP Agreement, NGP will manage the commercial operations for a dedicated sales team to market Gimoti, if approved by FDA, to gastroenterologists and other targeted health care providers.

Under the terms of the NGP Agreement, we maintain ownership of the Gimoti NDA, as well as legal, regulatory, and manufacturing responsibilities for Gimoti. We will also retain a contract sales organization, which would be managed by NGP. We will record sales for Gimoti and retain more than 80% of product profits. NGP will receive a percentage of product profits, or Contribution Profits, in the mid-to-high teens as a service fee. During the term of the NGP Agreement, NGP agrees to not commercialize a competing product in the United States other than pursuant to the NGP Agreement.

Pursuant to the NGP Agreement, upon any Gimoti NDA approval, NGP has agreed to finance our working capital requirements for specified commercialization costs in an amount by which Contribution Profits are expected to fall (or do actually fall) below zero (as projected by sales forecasts and a commercialization budget) to be drawn by us on a monthly basis, as needed, or NGP Working Capital Loan, pursuant to a credit agreement, to be negotiated in good faith between us and NGP, or NGP Credit Agreement. The NGP Working Capital Loan will be repaid by us, if at all, only out of positive Contribution Profits, unless the NGP Agreement is terminated (a) by NGP due to a material breach by us, or (b) by us other than due to the gross negligence or intentional misconduct of NGP. Termination of the NGP Agreement by NGP for any other reason (including, without limitation, minimum net sales thresholds and negative Contribution Profits, as described below) will cause the NGP Working Capital Loan to be forgiven in full. The interest rate and other terms of the NGP Working Capital Loan will be set forth in the NGP Credit Agreement.

In addition, under the NGP Agreement, NGP has agreed to provide a line of credit of up to \$5.0 million to us following NDA approval of Gimoti, if any, and for a period of up to nine months thereafter. The line of credit will be extended pursuant to a credit agreement to be negotiated in good faith by the parties. NGP will receive a low single digit percentage on net sales of Gimoti, or NGP Credit Fee, in lieu of any interest on the line of credit; provided that in no event shall the cumulative NGP Credit Fee exceed twice the amount of the principal borrowed by us. The line of credit will mature on the earlier of 30 days following the date the NGP Credit Fee is twice the amount of the borrowed principal and the two-year anniversary of the date the principal is borrowed by us. In the event we secure financing from a third-party wholesale distributor for the purchase of Gimoti for launch in excess of \$2.5 million dollars, NGP will no longer be required to offer the line of credit. NGP may terminate the NGP Agreement, including the obligation to provide a line of credit, since Gimoti was not approved by FDA by April 30, 2019, but, as of August 7, 2019, has not elected to do so.

We have no products approved for sale, and we have not generated any revenue from product sales or other arrangements. We have primarily funded our operations through the sale of our convertible preferred stock prior to our initial public offering in September 2013, borrowings under our bank loans and the sale of shares of our common stock on The Nasdaq Capital Market. We have incurred losses in each year since our inception. Substantially all of our operating losses resulted from expenses incurred in connection with advancing Gimoti through development activities and general and administrative costs associated with our operations. We expect to continue to incur significant expenses and operating losses for at least the next several years. We may never become profitable, or if we do, we may not be able to sustain profitability on a recurring basis.

As of June 30, 2019, we had cash and cash equivalents of approximately \$7.4 million. Current cash on hand is intended to fund interactions with FDA on the NDA submission for Gimoti, respond to approvability issues raised in the CRL received from FDA, and manufacture registration batches of Gimoti. In addition, cash will be needed to fund pre-commercialization and pre-approval activities for Gimoti, including hiring a sales force, preparing for marketing and commercial manufacturing of Gimoti, and general and administrative costs to support operations. Our operations have consumed substantial amounts of cash since inception. We believe, based on our current operating plan, that our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to fund our operations into the second quarter of 2020. If Gimoti is approved by FDA, additional funds will become available from the NGP Working Capital Loan and the NGP Credit Agreement. Under either situation, we will be required to raise additional funds in order to continue as a going concern. There can be no assurance that we will be able to further develop Gimoti, if required, and resubmit and receive FDA approval of the Gimoti NDA. Because our business is entirely dependent on the success of Gimoti, if we are unable to secure additional financing or identify and execute on other development or strategic alternatives for Gimoti or our company, we will be required to curtail all of our activities and may be required to liquidate, dissolve or otherwise wind down our operations. Any of these events could result in a complete loss of your investment in our securities.

# **Technology Acquisition Agreement**

In June 2007, we acquired all worldwide rights, data, patents and other related assets associated with Gimoti from Questcor Pharmaceuticals, Inc., or Questcor, pursuant to an asset purchase agreement. We paid Questcor \$650,000 in the form of an upfront payment and \$500,000 in May 2014 as a milestone payment based upon the initiation of the first patient dosing in our Phase 3 clinical trial for Gimoti. In August 2014, Mallinckrodt, plc, or Mallinckrodt, acquired Questcor. As a result of that acquisition, Questcor transferred its rights included in the asset purchase agreement with us to Mallinckrodt. In addition to the payments previously made to Questcor, we may be required to make additional milestone payments totaling up to \$52 million. In March 2018, we amended the asset purchase agreement with Mallinckrodt to defer development and approval milestone payments, such that rather than paying two milestone payments based on FDA acceptance for review of the NDA and final product marketing approval, we would be required to make a single \$5 million payment one year after we receive FDA approval to market Gimoti.

The remaining \$47 million in milestone payments depend on Gimoti's commercial success and will only apply if Gimoti receives regulatory approval. In addition, we will be required to pay Mallinckrodt a low single digit royalty on net sales of Gimoti. Our obligation to pay such royalties will terminate upon the expiration of the last patent right covering Gimoti, which is expected to occur in 2032.

#### **Financial Operations Overview**

#### Research and Development Expenses

We expense all research and development expenses as they are incurred. Research and development expenses primarily include:

- · clinical trial and regulatory-related costs;
- expenses incurred under agreements with contract research organizations, or CROs, investigative sites and consultants that conduct our clinical trials:
- manufacturing and stability testing costs and related supplies and materials; and
- employee-related expenses, including salaries, benefits, travel and stock-based compensation expense.

All of our research and development expenses to date have been incurred in connection with the development of Gimoti. The process of conducting clinical trials necessary to obtain regulatory approval is costly and time consuming. While we submitted the NDA for Gimoti in June 2018, the successful development and commercialization of Gimoti is still highly uncertain, in part due to our receipt of the CRL from FDA. We are unable to estimate with any certainty the costs we will incur in the continued development and regulatory review of Gimoti, though such costs may be significant. Clinical development timelines, the probability of success and development costs can differ materially from expectations. We may never succeed in achieving marketing approval for our product candidate.

The costs of clinical trials may vary significantly over the life of a project owing to, but not limited to, the following:

- per patient trial costs;
- the number of sites included in the trials;
- the countries in which the trials are conducted;
- the length of time required to enroll eligible subjects;
- the number of subjects that participate in the trials;
- the number of doses that subjects receive;

- the cost of comparative agents used in trials;
- the drop-out or discontinuation rates of subjects;
- potential additional safety monitoring or other studies requested by regulatory agencies;
- the duration of patient follow-up; and
- the efficacy and safety profile of the product candidate.

We do not yet know when Gimoti may be commercially available, if at all.

#### General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related benefits, including stock-based compensation. Other general and administrative expenses include professional fees for accounting, tax, patent costs, legal services, insurance, facility costs and costs associated with being a publicly-traded company, including fees associated with investor relations and directors and officers liability insurance premiums. We expect that general and administrative expenses will increase in the future as we expand our operating activities, prepare for the growth needs associated with potential commercialization of Gimoti and continue to incur additional costs associated with being a publicly-traded company and maintaining compliance with exchange listing and SEC requirements. These increases will likely include higher consulting costs, legal fees, accounting fees, directors' and officers' liability insurance premiums and fees associated with investor relations.

#### Other Income

Other income consists primarily of changes in the fair value of the warrant liability, which represents the change in the fair value of common stock warrants from the date of issuance to the end of the reporting period. The warrant liability was revalued each reporting period until March 2018, when we entered into warrant amendments, or the Warrant Amendments, with each of the holders of our outstanding warrants to purchase common stock issued on July 25, 2016 and August 3, 2016, or the Warrants. We previously used the Black Scholes valuation model to value the related warrant liability at each reporting date. As a result of the Warrant Amendments, the Warrants are no longer required to be accounted for as a liability and are no longer required to be revalued at each reporting period.

#### Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates

Our management's discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our financial statements, which we have prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, or GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. We evaluate these estimates and judgments on an ongoing basis. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Our actual results may differ materially from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

The critical accounting policies and estimates underlying the accompanying unaudited financial statements are those set forth in Part II, Item 7 included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, which was filed with the SEC on March 6, 2019.

#### **Other Information**

None.

#### **Results of Operations**

# Comparison of Three Months Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

The following table summarizes the results of our operations for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018:

	June 30,				(Decrease)		
		2019		2018			
Research and development expenses	\$	1,205,599	\$	1,388,791	\$	(183,192)	
General and administrative expenses	\$	918,139	\$	917,305	\$	834	

Three Months Ended

Research and Development Expenses. Research and development expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2019 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2018, decreased by approximately \$183,000. During 2019, we incurred expenses primarily related to responding to requests for additional information from FDA and manufacturing registration batches of Gimoti, while in 2018 we incurred expenses primarily related to preparing the Gimoti NDA. Costs incurred in 2019 included approximately \$758,000 for wages, taxes and employee insurance, including approximately \$202,000 of stock-based compensation expense, and approximately \$436,000 related to manufacturing. Costs incurred in 2018 included approximately \$619,000 related to the preparation of the NDA, approximately \$603,000 for wages, taxes and employee insurance, including approximately \$169,000 of stock-based compensation expense, and approximately \$160,000 related to manufacturing costs.

General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2019 remained consistent with expenses incurred during the three months ended June 30, 2018. Costs incurred in 2019 primarily included approximately \$363,000 for wages, taxes and employee insurance, including approximately \$143,000 of stock-based compensation expense, approximately \$343,000 for legal, accounting, directors and officers liability insurance and other costs associated with being a public company, approximately \$112,000 for outside consultants, and approximately \$30,000 for pre-commercialization costs. Costs incurred in 2018 primarily included approximately \$479,000 for wages, taxes and employee insurance, including approximately \$219,000 of stock-based compensation expense, and approximately \$307,000 for legal, accounting, directors and officers liability insurance and other costs associated with being a public company.

#### Comparison of Six Months Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

The following table summarizes the results of our operations for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018:

	Six Months Ended June 30,				Increase/ (Decrease)		
	2019			2018			
Research and development expenses	\$	1,952,481	\$	2,774,157	\$	(821,676)	
General and administrative expenses	\$	2,141,152	\$	1,949,550	\$	191,602	
Other (income)	\$	(14,271)	\$	(437,727)	\$	(423,456)	

Research and Development Expenses. Research and development expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2019 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2018, decreased by approximately \$822,000. During 2019, we incurred expenses primarily related to responding to requests for additional information from FDA and manufacturing registration batches of Gimoti, while in 2018 we incurred expenses primarily related to preparing the Gimoti NDA. Costs incurred in 2019 included approximately \$1.3 million for wages, taxes and employee insurance, including approximately \$354,000 of stock-based compensation expense, approximately \$539,000 related to manufacturing, and approximately \$75,000 related to responding to FDA questions on the NDA and the CRL. Costs incurred in 2018 included approximately \$1.3 million for wages, taxes and employee insurance, including approximately \$358,000 of stock-based compensation expense, approximately \$1.1 million related to the preparation of the NDA, and approximately \$371,000 related to manufacturing costs

General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2019 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2018, increased by approximately \$192,000. Costs incurred in 2019 primarily included approximately \$980,000 for wages, taxes and employee insurance, including approximately \$370,000 of stock-based compensation expense, approximately \$834,000 for legal, accounting, directors and officers liability insurance and other costs associated with being a public company, approximately \$114,000 for outside consultants, and approximately \$66,000 for precommercialization costs. Costs incurred in 2018 primarily included approximately \$938,000 for wages, taxes and employee insurance, including approximately \$424,000 of stock-based compensation expense, and approximately \$788,000 for legal, accounting, directors and officers liability insurance and other costs associated with being a public company.

Other Income. Other income for the six months ended June 30, 2019 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2018, decreased by approximately \$423,000 due primarily to no longer being required to revalue the Warrants. Since the date of the Warrant Amendments in March 2018, the Warrants are no longer classified as a liability on our balance sheet, were adjusted to fair value and were reclassified to additional paid-in capital, a component of stockholders' equity. Prior to the amendment, the Warrants were accounted for as a liability and were required to be revalued at each reporting period.

#### **Liquidity and Capital Resources**

In November 2017, we filed a shelf registration with the SEC on Form S-3. The shelf registration statement includes a prospectus for the at-the-market offering to sell up to an aggregate of \$16.0 million of shares of our common stock through B. Riley FBR, Inc., or FBR, as a sales agent, or FBR Sales Agreement. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we sold 1,985,054 shares of common stock at a weighted-average price per share of \$2.38 pursuant to the FBR Sales Agreement and received proceeds of approximately \$4.6

million, net of commissions and fees. During the six months ended June 30, 2019, we sold 6,686,423 shares of common stock at a weighted-average price per share of \$0.87 pursuant to the FBR Sales Agreement and received proceeds of approximately \$5.7 million, net of commissions and fees. As of June 30, 2019, we had approximately \$5.5 million remaining to sell under this Form S-3.

Under current SEC regulations, if at the time we file our Annual Report on Form 10-K ("Form 10-K"), and our public float is less than \$75 million, and for so long as our public float remains less than \$75 million, the amount we can raise through primary public offerings of securities in any twelve-month period using shelf registration statements is limited to an aggregate of one-third of our public float, which is referred to as the baby shelf rules. As of July 31, 2019, our public float was approximately \$25.9 million, based on 21,076,581 shares of outstanding common stock held by non-affiliates at a price of \$1.23 per share, which was the last reported sale price of our common stock on The Nasdaq Capital Market on July 22, 2019. As a result of our public float being below \$75 million, we will be limited by the baby shelf rules until such time as our public float exceeds \$75 million, which means we only have the capacity to sell shares up to one-third of our public float under shelf registration statements in any twelve-month period. If our public float decreases, the amount of securities we may sell under our Form S-3 shelf registration statement will also decrease. As of July 31, 2019, we had the capacity to issue up to approximately \$1.7 million of additional shares of common stock pursuant to the FBR Sales Agreement.

Future sales under the FBR Sales Agreement will depend on a variety of factors including, but not limited to, market conditions, the trading price of our common stock and our capital needs. There can be no assurance that FBR will be successful in consummating future sales based on prevailing market conditions or in the quantities or at the prices that we deem appropriate.

In addition, we will not be able to make future sales of common stock pursuant to the FBR Sales Agreement unless certain conditions are met, which include the accuracy of representations and warranties made to FBR under the FBR Sales Agreement. Furthermore, FBR is permitted to terminate the FBR Sales Agreement in its sole discretion upon ten days' notice, or at any time in certain circumstances, including the occurrence of an event that would be reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on our assets, business, operations, earnings, properties, condition (financial or otherwise), prospects, stockholders' equity or results of operations. We have no obligation to sell the remaining shares available for sale pursuant to the FBR Sales Agreement.

In March 2018, we entered into the Warrant Amendments with each of the holders of our outstanding Warrants acquired as part of our financings which closed in July and August 2016. As a result of the Warrant Amendments, all of the remaining Warrants to purchase 2,449,129 shares of our common stock are no longer required to be classified as liabilities. The value of the amended Warrants was adjusted to the fair value immediately prior to the Warrant Amendments, resulting in a gain of approximately \$433,000 in the statement of operations, and approximately \$3.3 million was reclassified from warrant liability to additional paid-in capital, a component of stockholders' equity.

Management concluded that there is substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. Our independent registered public accounting firm also included an explanatory paragraph in their report on our financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018 with respect to our ability to continue as a going concern. This doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern for at least twelve months from the date of the financial statements could materially limit our ability to raise additional funds through the issuance of new debt or equity securities or otherwise. Future reports on our financial statements may also include an explanatory paragraph with respect to our ability to continue as a going concern. We have incurred significant losses since our inception and have never been profitable, and it is possible we will never achieve profitability. We have devoted our resources to developing Gimoti, but it cannot be marketed until regulatory approvals have been obtained. We believe, based on our current operating plan, that our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to fund our operations into the second quarter of 2020. If Gimoti is approved by FDA, additional funds will become available from the NGP Working Capital Loan and the NGP Credit Agreement. Under either situation, we will be required to raise additional funds in order to continue as a going concern. There can be no assurance that we will be able to further develop Gimoti, if required, and resubmit and receive FDA approval of the Gimoti NDA. Because our business is entirely dependent on the success of Gimoti, if we are unable to secure additional financing or identify and execute on other development or strategic alternatives for Gimoti or our company, we will be required to curtail all of our activities and may be required to liquidate, dissolve or otherwise wind down our operations. Any of these events could result in a complete loss of your investment in our securities.

These estimates of cash runway could be shortened if there are any significant increases in planned spending on responding to the issues raised by FDA in the CRL, pre-commercialization and pre-approval activities, including hiring a sales force, preparing for marketing and manufacturing of Gimoti, and our general and administrative costs to support operations. There is no assurance that other financing will be available when needed to allow us to continue as a going concern. The perception that we may not be able to continue as a going concern may cause others to choose not to deal with us due to concerns about our ability to meet our contractual obligations.

On May 15, 2019, we received a letter from Nasdaq indicating that, for the last thirty consecutive business days, the bid price for our common stock had closed below the minimum \$1.00 per share requirement for continued listing on The Nasdaq Capital Market.

In accordance with Nasdaq listing rules, we have been provided an initial period of 180 calendar days, or until November 11, 2019, to regain compliance. The letter states that Nasdaq will provide written notification that we have achieved compliance with its rules if at

any time before November 11, 2019, the bid price of our common stock closes at \$1.00 per share or more for a minimum of ten consecutive business days. The Nasdaq letter has no immediate effect on the listing or trading of our common stock and the common stock will continue to trade on The Nasdaq Capital Market.

We intend to monitor the bid price of our common stock and consider available options if our common stock does not trade at a level likely to result in us regaining compliance with Nasdaq's minimum bid price rule by November 11, 2019.

If we do not regain compliance with Nasdaq listing rules by November 11, 2019, we may be eligible for an additional 180 calendar day compliance period. To qualify, we would be required to meet the continued listing requirement for market value of publicly held shares and all other initial listing standards for The Nasdaq Capital Market, with the exception of the bid price requirement, and would need to provide written notice of our intention to cure the deficiency during the second compliance period, by effecting a reverse stock split, if necessary. However, if it appears to Nasdaq that we will not be able to cure the deficiency, or if we are otherwise not eligible, Nasdaq would notify us that our securities would be subject to delisting. In the event of such a notification, we may appeal Nasdaq's determination to delist our securities, but there can be no assurance Nasdaq would grant our request for continued listing.

We expect to continue to incur expenses and increase operating losses for at least the next several years. In the near-term, we anticipate incurring costs as we:

- respond to the issues raised in the CRL, conduct additional development activities, if required, and prepare an NDA resubmission;
- continue the pre-approval and pre-commercialization activities for Gimoti;
- continue the preparation of the commercial manufacturing process;
- maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio; and
- · continue to fund the additional accounting, legal, insurance and other costs associated with being a public company.

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018:

	Six Months Ended June 30,				Increase/ (Decrease)	
		2019		2018		
Net cash used in operating activities	\$	(3,555,314)	\$	(4,579,708)	\$	(1,024,394)
Net cash provided by financing activities	\$	5,676,389	\$	3,431,520	\$	2,244,869
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	\$	2,121,075	\$	(1,148,188)	\$	3,269,263

Operating Activities. The primary use of our cash has been to fund our clinical research, the preparation of our NDA, manufacture of Gimoti, and other general operations. The cash used in operating activities during the six months ended June 30, 2019 was primarily related to ongoing communication with FDA related to the NDA and the CRL, and manufacturing registration batches of Gimoti. The cash used in operating activities during the six months ended June 30, 2018 was primarily related to the preparation of the NDA. We expect that cash used in operating activities during the second half of 2019 will remain consistent with the first half of 2019 as we continue responding to the CRL, and working on pre-approval and pre-commercialization activities, as well as commercialization activities, should FDA approve the NDA for Gimoti.

*Financing Activities.* During the six months ended June 30, 2019, we received net proceeds of approximately \$5.7 million from the sale of 6,686,423 shares of common stock pursuant to the FBR Sales Agreement. During the six months ended June 30, 2018, we received net proceeds of approximately \$3.4 million from the sale of 1,485,054 shares of common stock pursuant to the FBR Sales Agreement.

The amount and timing of our future funding requirements will depend on many factors, including but not limited to:

- we may not have sufficient financial and other resources to complete clinical development for Gimoti, including to address the issues raised by FDA in the CRL and to resubmit the NDA;
- we may not be able to provide acceptable evidence of safety and efficacy for Gimoti;
- we may be required to undertake additional clinical trials and other studies of Gimoti before we receive approval of the NDA if and when it is resubmitted:
- FDA may disagree with the design of our future clinical trials, if any are necessary;
- variability in subjects, adjustments to clinical trial procedures and inclusion of additional clinical trial sites;

- FDA may not agree with the analysis of our clinical trial results;
- the results of our clinical trials may not meet the level of statistical or clinical significance or other bioequivalence parameters required by FDA for marketing approval;
- subjects in our clinical trials may die or suffer other adverse effects for reasons that may or may not be related to Gimoti, such as dysgeusia, headache, diarrhea, nasal discomfort, tremor, myoclonus, somnolence, rhinorrhea, throat irritation, and fatigue;
- if approved, Gimoti will compete with well-established products already approved for marketing by FDA, including oral and intravenous forms of metoclopramide, the same active ingredient in the nasal spray for Gimoti;
- · we may not be able to obtain, maintain and enforce our patents and other intellectual property rights; and
- we may not be able to establish commercial-scale manufacturing capabilities.

#### **Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements**

Through June 30, 2019, we have not entered into and did not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial collaborations, such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities, which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purpose.

#### **Contractual Obligations and Commitments**

There were no material changes outside the ordinary course of our business during the six months ended June 30, 2019 to the information regarding our contractual obligations that was disclosed in Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, filed with the SEC on March 6, 2019.

#### Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk

As of June 30, 2019, there have been no material changes in our market risk from that described in "Item 7 – Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, filed with the SEC on March 6, 2019.

#### **Item 4. Controls and Procedures**

### Conclusions Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the timelines specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Business Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and in reaching a reasonable level of assurance, management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. In addition, the design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, control may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

As required by SEC Rule 13a-15(b), we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Business Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on the foregoing, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Business Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of June 30, 2019.

# **Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting**

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during our most recent fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

#### PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

#### Item 1. Legal Proceedings

We are currently not a party to any material legal proceedings.

#### Item 1A. Risk Factors

There have been no material changes to the risk factors included in "Item 1A. Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, filed with the SEC on March 6, 2019, other than as set forth below:

Risks Related to our Business, including the Development, Regulatory Approval and Potential Commercialization of our Product Candidate, Gimoti

Our business is entirely dependent on the success of Gimoti, which failed to achieve the primary endpoint of symptom improvement in a Phase 3 clinical trial in female patients with symptoms associated with diabetic gastroparesis. While we are continuing to pursue regulatory approval based on the results of our completed comparative exposure PK trial, we received a CRL from FDA for our Gimoti NDA and we cannot be certain that we will be able to obtain regulatory approval for, or successfully commercialize, Gimoti.

To date, we have devoted all of our research, development and clinical efforts and financial resources toward the development of Gimoti, our patented nasal delivery formulation of metoclopramide for the relief of symptoms associated with acute and recurrent diabetic gastroparesis in adult women. Gimoti is our only product candidate. In July 2016, we announced topline results from our Phase 3 clinical trial that evaluated the efficacy and safety of Gimoti in women with symptoms associated with diabetic gastroparesis. In this study, Gimoti did not achieve its primary endpoint of symptom improvement in the Intent-to-Treat (ITT) group at Week 4.

In December 2016, we announced the completion of a pre-NDA meeting with FDA, in which FDA agreed that a comparative exposure PK trial was acceptable as a basis for submission of a Gimoti NDA. Data from the comparative exposure PK trial will serve as a portion of the 505(b)(2) data package to include prior efficacy and safety data developed by us and FDA's prior findings of safety and efficacy for the Listed Drug, Reglan Tablets 10 mg. In October 2017, we announced positive topline results from the comparative exposure PK trial. In addition, based on feedback received from FDA at an additional pre-NDA meeting, we proposed a risk mitigation strategy and post-approval safety trial as part of the NDA we submitted for Gimoti to FDA on June 1, 2018. We received a Day-74 filing communication letter in August 2018 that stated that the NDA was sufficiently complete to permit a substantive review and set a target goal date under PDUFA of April 1, 2019. On March 1, 2019, we received a DRL from FDA, which provided preliminary notice of certain deficiencies identified during FDA's initial review of the Gimoti NDA. Specifically, the DRL described concerns with the information provided in the NDA, including concerns that insufficient evidence had been offered regarding product quality control and reproducibility specific to the commercially available sprayer device used with Gimoti, that there is a lack of adequate information to support sex-based efficacy claims and that the pharmacology data provided may not demonstrate bioavailability to the Listed Drug, Reglan Tablets 10 mg.

On April 1, 2019, we received a CRL from FDA for our NDA. The CRL stated that FDA determined it could not approve the NDA in its present form and provided recommendations to address the two remaining approvability issues in an NDA resubmission. The approvability issues are related to clinical pharmacology and product quality/device quality. FDA did not request any new clinical data and did not raise any safety concerns.

The clinical pharmacology issue was specific to a low  $C_{max}$  in subjects representing less than 5% of the total administered Gimoti doses in the pivotal PK study. FDA stated the overall lower mean  $C_{max}$  was driven by the data from these few doses. Without the aberrant doses, our analysis shows the data met the bioequivalence criteria for both men and women, although there is no assurance that FDA will agree with our conclusion. FDA recommended a root cause analysis to determine the origin of the PK variability and mitigation strategies to address the issue. Additionally, FDA requested data from three registration batches of commercial product to be manufactured at the proposed commercial manufacturing site, by the proposed commercial process and tested using validated analytical methods These data were requested to provide additional support for the proposed acceptance criteria for droplet size distribution and other essential performance characteristics for the commercial product specifications.

On July 25, 2019, we completed a type A meeting with FDA to obtain FDA's feedback and agreement on our plan to address deficiencies cited in the CRL in support of a resubmission of the Gimoti NDA. The focus of the discussion was on topics noted in the CRL, including the root cause analysis of low drug exposure in the comparative bioavailability study and additional product quality/device quality control testing.

Based on FDA feedback and the meeting minutes, we will include our root cause analysis and previously collected patient use and experience information in our resubmission package. We also agreed to provide an analysis of pump performance characteristics on the nasal spray devices used in the comparative bioavailability study and 3-month stability data from commercial scale batches of Gimoti which we initiated manufacturing in June 2019. No additional human clinical trials were requested by FDA and we plan to resubmit the Gimoti NDA in the fourth quarter of 2019. However, FDA may determine that our root cause analysis and additional patient data

and/or the stability data do not adequately address the issues raised in the CRL, or support approval of the NDA, and may later require us to conduct additional human clinical trials prior to approval. In addition, FDA may not accept our planned NDA resubmission for review.

Because our business is entirely dependent on the success of Gimoti, if we are unable to successfully complete development of and receive regulatory approval of this product candidate, we will be required to curtail all of our activities and may be required to liquidate, dissolve or otherwise wind down our operations. Any of these events could result in the complete loss of an investment in our securities.

In addition to the above factors, the future regulatory and commercial success of Gimoti is subject to a number of additional risks, including the following:

- we may not be able to provide acceptable evidence of safety and efficacy for Gimoti, including as a result of the proposed duration of use for Gimoti being shorter as compared to the maximum approved dosing duration for the referenced Listed Drug, Reglan Tablets 10 mg.;
- the results of our clinical trials may not meet the level of statistical or clinical significance or other bioequivalence parameters required by FDA for marketing approval, including C<sub>max</sub> falling below the equivalence range in the comparative exposure PK trial;
- · FDA may not agree with the analysis of our clinical trial results, including our analysis of results of the PK trial;
- later developments with FDA that may be inconsistent with our recent type A meeting;
- we may be required to undertake additional clinical trials and other studies of Gimoti before we receive approval of the NDA if and when it is resubmitted:
- we may not have sufficient financial and other resources to complete clinical development for Gimoti;
- if approved, Gimoti will compete with well-established products already approved for marketing by FDA, including oral and intravenous forms of metoclopramide, the same active ingredient in the nasal spray for Gimoti;
- our reliance on NGP and any third-party sales organization to commercialize Gimoti, if approved;
- we may not be able to maintain commercial manufacturing arrangements with third-party manufacturers or establish and maintain commercial-scale manufacturing capabilities;
- FDA may disagree with the design of any future clinical trials, if any are necessary;
- variability in subjects, adjustments to clinical trial procedures and inclusion of additional clinical trial sites;
- subjects in our clinical trials may die or suffer other adverse effects for reasons that may or may not be related to Gimoti, such as dysgeusia, headache, diarrhea, nasal discomfort, tremor, myoclonus, somnolence, rhinorrhea, throat irritation, and fatigue; and
- we may not be able to obtain, maintain and enforce our patents and other intellectual property rights.

Of the large number of drugs in development in this industry, only a small percentage result in the submission of an NDA to FDA and even fewer are approved for commercialization. Furthermore, even if we do receive regulatory approval to market Gimoti, any such approval may be subject to limitations on the indicated uses for which we may market the product.

We may require substantial additional funding and may be unable to raise capital when needed, which would force us to liquidate, dissolve or otherwise wind down our operations.

Our operations have consumed substantial amounts of cash since inception. We believe, based on our current operating plan, that our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to fund our operations into the second quarter of 2020. If Gimoti is approved by FDA, additional funds will become available from the NGP Working Capital Loan and the NGP Credit Agreement. Under either situation, we will be required to raise additional funds in order to continue as a going concern. There can be no assurance that we will be able to raise additional funds to further develop Gimoti, if required, and resubmit and receive FDA approval of the Gimoti NDA. Because our business is entirely dependent on the success of Gimoti, if we are unable to secure additional financing or identify and execute on other development or strategic alternatives for Gimoti or our company, we will be required to curtail all of our activities and may be required to liquidate, dissolve or otherwise wind down our operations. Any of these events could result in a complete loss of your investment in our securities.

Our estimates of the amount of cash necessary to fund our activities may prove to be wrong and we could spend our available financial resources much faster than we currently expect. Our future funding requirements will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to:

- the need for, and the progress, costs and results of, any additional clinical trials of Gimoti that may be required by FDA, including any pre-approval or post-approval trials FDA or other regulatory agencies may require evaluating the efficacy or safety of Gimoti;
- the costs involved for additional data collection and analysis to respond to FDA questions related to the NDA and to respond to the CRL and resubmit the NDA;
- · the outcome, costs and timing of seeking and obtaining regulatory approvals from FDA, and any similar regulatory agencies;
- the costs and timing of completion of outsourced commercial manufacturing supply arrangements for Gimoti;
- the costs required to commercialize Gimoti, including expenses incurred under our commercialization agreement with NGP, and the costs of
  establishing or outsourcing additional sales, marketing and distribution capabilities;
- the commercial success of Gimoti, if approved;
- · the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights associated with Gimoti;
- the terms and timing of any collaborative, licensing, co-promotion or other arrangements that we may establish; and
- · costs associated with any other product candidates that we may develop, in-license or acquire.

Additional funding may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. In addition, the terms of any financing may adversely affect the holdings or the rights of our stockholders. Furthermore, the issuance of additional shares or other securities by us, or the possibility of such issuance, may cause the market price of our shares to decline and dilute the holdings of our existing stockholders. If we raise additional funds by incurring debt, the terms of the debt may involve significant cash payment obligations, as well as covenants and specific financial ratios that may restrict our ability to operate our business. We cannot provide any assurance that our existing capital resources will be sufficient to enable us to identify or execute a viable plan for continued clinical development of Gimoti, resubmit the NDA or to otherwise survive as a going concern.

# Final marketing approval for Gimoti by FDA or other regulatory authorities for commercial use may be delayed, limited, or denied, any of which would adversely affect our ability to generate operating revenues.

We submitted an NDA for Gimoti in June 2018. Under PDUFA, FDA is subject to a two-tiered system of review times - Standard Review and Priority Review. For drugs subject to standard review, such as Gimoti, FDA has a goal to complete its review of the NDA and respond to the applicant within ten months from the date of receipt of an NDA. In its Day-74 filing communication letter, FDA assigned a target goal date under PDUFA of April 1, 2019 for the Gimoti NDA. On April 1, 2019, we received a CRL from FDA for our NDA. The CRL stated that FDA could not approve the NDA in its present form and provided recommendations to address the remaining approvability issues in an NDA resubmission.

On July 25, 2019, we completed a type A meeting with FDA to obtain FDA's feedback and agreement on our plan to address deficiencies cited in the CRL in support of a resubmission of the Gimoti NDA. The focus of the discussion was on topics noted in the CRL, including the root cause analysis of low drug exposure in the comparative bioavailability study and additional product quality/device quality control testing.

Based on FDA feedback and the meeting minutes, we will include our root cause analysis and previously collected patient use and experience information in our resubmission. We also agreed to provide an analysis of pump performance characteristics on the nasal spray devices used in the comparative bioavailability study and 3-month stability data from commercial scale batches of Gimoti which we initiated manufacturing in June 2019. No additional human clinical trials were requested by FDA and we plan to resubmit the Gimoti NDA in the fourth quarter of 2019. However, FDA may determine that our root cause analysis and additional patient data and/or the stability data do not adequately address the issues raised in the CRL, or support approval of the NDA, and may later require us to conduct additional human clinical trials prior to approval. In addition, FDA may not accept our planned NDA resubmission for review.

The duration of FDA's review of any resubmitted NDA may depend on the number and type of other NDAs that are submitted with FDA around the same time period. In addition, FDA may refer applications for novel drug products or drug products which present difficult questions of safety or efficacy to an advisory committee for review, evaluation and recommendation as to whether the application should be approved and under what conditions. FDA is not bound by the recommendation of an advisory committee, but it considers such recommendations carefully when making decisions.

We cannot provide any assurance as to whether or when we will obtain regulatory approval to commercialize Gimoti. We cannot, therefore, predict the timing of any future revenue. Because Gimoti is our only product candidate this risk is particularly significant for us. We cannot commercialize Gimoti until the appropriate regulatory authorities have reviewed and approved marketing applications for this product candidate. We cannot assure you that the regulatory agencies will complete their review processes in a timely manner

or that we will obtain regulatory approval for Gimoti. In addition, we may experience delays or the application may be rejected based upon additional government regulation from future legislation or administrative action or changes in FDA policy during the period of product development, clinical trials and FDA regulatory review. For example, in 2009 following an FDA review of metoclopramide spontaneous safety reports, FDA required a boxed warning be added to the metoclopramide product label concerning the chance of tardive dyskinesia, or TD, for patients taking these products. FDA requires a boxed warning (sometimes referred to as a "Black Box" Warning) for products that have shown a significant risk of severe or life-threatening adverse events. Recently, the European Medicines Agency's Committee on Medicinal Products for Human Use, or CHMP, has reviewed and has proposed labeling changes for marketed metoclopramide products in the European Union based on age, dosing guidelines or indications. Based on their assessment of the limited efficacy and safety data currently available to the CHMP, the CHMP recommended to the European Medicines Agency that indications with limited or inconclusive efficacy data, including GERD, dyspepsia and gastroparesis, be removed from the approved product label in the European Union. There can be no assurance as to whether FDA will re-review approved metoclopramide product labels as a result of any such regulatory actions in the European Union or otherwise. If marketing approval for Gimoti is delayed, limited or denied, our ability to market the product candidate, and our ability to generate product sales, would be adversely affected.

In addition, in a written communication, FDA responded to our request for proprietary name review by conditionally accepting our proposed proprietary brand name, Gimoti. However, FDA issued the CRL even though it had previously approved this proprietary name. FDA typically conducts a rigorous review of proposed product names, including an evaluation of potential for confusion with the names of other products, which could lead to identification of the wrong medication or other prescribing, ordering, dispensing, administration, or monitoring errors. FDA may also object to a product name if it believes the name functions to overstate the efficacy, minimize the risk, broaden the proposed indication, make unsubstantiated superiority claims, or is otherwise false or misleading. If FDA objects to the product name Gimoti as part of any NDA resubmission review process, we may be required to adopt an alternative name for our product candidate. If we adopt an alternative name, we would lose the benefit of our existing trademark applications for Gimoti and may be required to expend significant additional resources in an effort to identify a suitable product name that would qualify under applicable trademark laws, not infringe the existing rights of third parties and be acceptable to FDA. We may be unable to build a successful brand identity for a new trademark in a timely manner or at all, which would limit our ability to commercialize our product candidate.

We have no internal sales, marketing or distribution capabilities currently and will rely on NGP and other third parties for the commercialization of Gimoti, and we and they may not be able to effectively market, sell and distribute Gimoti, if approved.

Currently, we have no internal sales, marketing or distribution capabilities. If Gimoti ultimately receives regulatory approval, we may not be able to effectively market and distribute the product candidate. We have engaged NGP to manage the commercial operations for a dedicated sales team to market Gimoti. We anticipate engaging a third-party sales organization to retain, train and deploy this direct sales force. We may not be able to hire consultants or external service providers to assist us in retaining, training and deploying a sales force or for other sales, marketing and distribution functions on acceptable financial terms or at all. If we fail to engage with a third party on acceptable terms or at all, we will have to invest significant amounts of financial and management resource to develop internal sales, distribution and marketing capabilities. We have no experience in retaining, training or deploying a sales force and no experience in managing third-party sales organizations. Further, we or the third-party sales organization may be unable to identify and retain suitable candidates to fill our direct sales force needs, on our expected launch timeframe or otherwise. To the extent we or the third-party sales organization are not successful in retaining qualified sales and marketing personnel, we may not be able to effectively market Gimoti. Further, there can be no assurance that the capabilities of the NGP and the third-party sales organizations will effective in marketing and selling Gimoti, or that their personnel will be more effective than an internally developed sales organization. In addition, NGP may terminate our agreement, including the obligation to provide a line of credit, since Gimoti was not approved by FDA by April 30, 2019, and can terminate the agreement under certain additional circumstances, including failure to make payments when due, if we are in material breach of the agreement and fail to remedy the breach following notice, if we enter into bankruptcy, or if we are excluded from participation in certain federal governmental programs or have similar actions taken against us. If we, or either NGP or the third-party sales organization, fails to hire, train, retain and manage qualified sales personnel, market our product successfully or on a cost-effective basis or otherwise terminates our relationship, our ability to generate revenue will be limited and we will need to identify and retain an alternative organization, or develop our own sales and marketing capability. In such an event, we would have to invest significant amounts of financial and management resources to develop internal sales, distribution and marketing capabilities. This could involve significant delays and costs, including the diversion of our management's attention from other activities. We may also need to retain additional consultants or external service providers to assist us in sales, marketing and distribution functions, and may be unsuccessful in retaining such services on acceptable financial terms or at all.

If we do perform sales, marketing and distribution functions ourselves, we could face a number of additional related risks, including:

- inability to attract and build an effective marketing department or sales force;
- the cost of establishing a marketing department or sales force may exceed our available financial resources and the revenues generated by Gimoti or any other product candidates that we may develop, in-license or acquire; and
- our direct sales and marketing efforts may not be successful.

If we are unsuccessful in building and managing a sales and marketing infrastructure internally or through a third-party partner for any approved product, we will have difficulty commercializing the product, which would adversely affect our business and financial condition.

#### Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Need for Capital

#### Our recurring losses from operations have raised substantial doubt regarding our ability to continue as a going concern.

Our recurring losses from operations raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern, and as a result, management concluded that there is substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. Our independent registered public accounting firm also included an explanatory paragraph in its report on our financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018 with respect to this uncertainty. This doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern could materially limit our ability to raise additional funds through the issuance of new debt or equity securities or otherwise. In addition, the perception that we may not be able to continue as a going concern may cause others to choose not to deal with us due to concerns about our ability to meet our contractual obligations. Future reports on our financial statements may also include an explanatory paragraph with respect to our ability to continue as a going concern. We have incurred significant losses since our inception and have never been profitable, and it is possible we will never achieve profitability. We have devoted our resources to developing Gimoti, but it cannot be marketed until regulatory approvals have been obtained.

Our operations have consumed substantial amounts of cash since inception. We believe, based on our current operating plan, that our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to fund our operations into the second quarter of 2020. If Gimoti is approved by FDA, additional funds will become available from the NGP Working Capital Loan and the NGP Credit Agreement. This period could be shortened if there are any significant increases in planned spending on our Gimoti development program than anticipated. Under either situation, we will be required to raise additional funds in order to continue as a going concern. There is no assurance that other financing will be available when needed to allow us to continue as a going concern. There can be no assurance that we will be able to further develop Gimoti, if required. Because our business is entirely dependent on the success of Gimoti, if we are unable to secure additional financing or identify and execute on other development or strategic alternatives for Gimoti or our company, we will be required to curtail all of our activities and may be required to liquidate, dissolve or otherwise wind down our operations. Any of these events could result in a complete loss of your investment in our securities.

#### If we fail to obtain the capital necessary to fund our operations, we will be unable to successfully develop and commercialize Gimoti.

We will require substantial additional future capital in order to finance any additional development activities for Gimoti, including any requirements requested by FDA, including our response to the approvability issues raised by FDA in the CRL, as well as for pre-commercial activities, including marketing and manufacturing of Gimoti. The amount and timing of any expenditure needed to implement our development and commercialization programs will depend on numerous factors, including:

- the need for, and the progress, costs and results of, any additional clinical trials of Gimoti required by FDA, including any additional trials FDA or other regulatory agencies may require evaluating the safety of Gimoti;
- the outcome, costs and timing of seeking and obtaining regulatory approvals from FDA, and any similar regulatory agencies;
- the timing and costs associated with manufacturing Gimoti for clinical trials and other studies and, if approved, for commercial sale;
- our need and ability to hire additional management, development and scientific personnel;
- the cost to maintain, expand and defend the scope of our intellectual property portfolio, including the amount and timing of any payments we may be required to make, or that we may receive, in connection with licensing, filing, prosecution, defense and enforcement of any patents or other intellectual property rights;
- the timing and costs associated with establishing sales and marketing capabilities;
- market acceptance of Gimoti;
- the extent to which we are required to pay milestone or other payments under our Mallinckrodt asset purchase agreement and the timing of such payments;
- the costs of acquiring, licensing or investing in additional businesses, products, product candidates and technologies; and
- our need to implement additional internal systems and infrastructure, including financial and reporting systems.

Some of these factors are outside of our control. We cannot provide any assurance that our existing capital will be sufficient to enable us to fund any additional clinical development required for Gimoti, and, in any event, we will need to raise additional capital to complete such clinical development, as well as to prepare to commercialize Gimoti should we receive product approval. We may need to raise additional funds in the near future for commercialization for Gimoti.

We may seek additional funding through collaboration agreements, public or private equity financings, debt financings or receivables financings. For example, we currently may sell from time to time, at our option, up to an aggregate of \$16.0 million of shares of our common stock through FBR, as sales agent pursuant to the FBR Sales Agreement. Sales pursuant to the FBR Sales Agreement are registered pursuant to a shelf registration statement on Form S-3 which was declared effective by the SEC on December 28, 2017. As of July 31, 2019, we had sold approximately \$10.5 million of shares of our common stock pursuant to the FBR Sales Agreement. However, there can be no assurance that FBR will be successful in consummating future sales based on prevailing market conditions or in the quantities or at the prices that we deem appropriate.

Under current SEC regulations, at any time during which the aggregate market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates, or public float, is less than \$75 million, the amount we can raise through primary public offerings of securities in any twelve-month period using shelf registration statements, including sales under the FBR Sales Agreement, is limited to an aggregate of one-third of our public float. As of July 31, 2019, our public float was approximately \$25.9 million which means we may only sell approximately \$1.7 million of securities using our shelf registration statements. If our public float decreases, the amount of securities we may sell under our Form S-3 shelf registration statement will also decrease. In addition, FBR is permitted to terminate the FBR Sales Agreement in its sole discretion upon ten days' notice, or at any time in certain circumstances, including the occurrence of an event that would be reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on our assets, business, operations, earnings, properties, condition (financial or otherwise), prospects, stockholders' equity or results of operations.

Additional funding may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. In addition, the terms of any financing may adversely affect the holdings or the rights of our stockholders. In addition, the issuance of additional shares by us, or the possibility of such issuance, may cause the market price of our shares to decline and dilute the holdings of our existing stockholders. If we raise additional funds by incurring debt, the terms of the debt may involve significant cash payment obligations as well as covenants and specific financial ratios that may restrict our ability to operate our business.

If we are unable to obtain funding on a timely basis, if required, we will be unable to complete additional clinical development of Gimoti and may be required to significantly curtail all of our activities. We also could be required to seek funds through arrangements with collaborative partners or otherwise that may require us to relinquish rights to our product candidate or some of our technologies or otherwise agree to terms unfavorable to us.

If we fail to meet all applicable Nasdaq Capital Market requirements and Nasdaq determines to delist our common stock, the delisting could adversely affect the market liquidity of our common stock and the market price of our common stock could decrease.

Our common stock is listed on The Nasdaq Capital Market. In order to maintain our listing, we must meet minimum financial and other requirements, including requirements for a minimum amount of capital, a minimum closing bid price per share of \$1.00 and continued business operations so that we are not characterized as a "public shell company." On May 15, 2019, we received a letter from Nasdaq indicating that, for the last thirty consecutive business days, the bid price for our common stock had closed below the minimum \$1.00 per share requirement for continued listing on The Nasdaq Capital Market. Although Nasdaq provided us with a 180-calendar day compliance period in which to regain compliance with the minimum closing bid price requirement, we cannot assure you that we will be able to regain compliance within the period provided by Nasdaq. The letter states that Nasdaq will provide written notification that we have achieved compliance with its rules if at any time before November 11, 2019, the bid price of our common stock closes at \$1.00 per share or more for a minimum of ten consecutive business days during the compliance period. If we are not able to regain compliance within the allotted compliance period for this requirement or any other applicable listing standard, including any extensions that may be granted by Nasdaq, our shares of common stock would be subject to delisting. In the event that our common stock is delisted from The Nasdaq Capital Market and is not eligible for quotation or listing on another market or exchange, trading of our common stock could be conducted only in the over-the-counter market or on an electronic bulletin board established for unlisted securities such as the Pink Sheets or the OTC Bulletin Board. In such event, it could become more difficult to dispose of, or obtain accurate price quotations for, our common stock, and there would likely also be a reduction in our coverage by securities analysts and the news media, which could cause the price of our common stock to decline f

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

**Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities** 

None.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure

Not applicable.

# **Item 5. Other Information**

None.

# Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit

#### **Index to Exhibits**

**Description of Exhibit** 

	•
3.1 (1)	Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company
3.2 (1)	Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company
4.1 (2)	Form of the Company's Common Stock Certificate
4.2 (3)	Investor Rights Agreement dated as of June 1, 2007
4.3 (3)	Warrant dated June 1, 2012 issued by the Company to Silicon Valley Bank
4.4 (4)	Form of Warrant issued by the Company to certain investors under the Securities Purchase Agreement between the Company and such investors dated July 25, 2016
4.5 (5)	Form of Warrant issued by the Company to certain investors under the Securities Purchase Agreement between the Company and such investors dated August 3, 2016
4.6 (6)	Form of Amendment to Common Stock Purchase Warrant, amending certain of the warrants dated July 25, 2016 and August 3, 2016
4.7 (7)	Form of Amendment to Common Stock Purchase Warrant, amending certain of the warrants dated July 25, 2016 and August 3, 2016
4.8 (8)	Form of Amendment to Common Stock Purchase Warrant, amending certain of the warrants dated July 25, 2016 and August 3, 2016
31.1*	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
31.2*	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
32.1*	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.2*	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
101.INS	XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
(2) Incorpora	ted by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 30, 2013. ted by reference to the Company's Amendment No. 3 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on August 16, 2013. ted by reference to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on May 24, 2013.

- (3) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on May 24, 2013.
- (4) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 20, 2016.
- (5) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 1, 2016.
- (6) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 16, 2016
- (7) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 23, 2018
- (8) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 4, 2018
- \* These certifications are being furnished solely to accompany this quarterly report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, and are not being filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Company, whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing.

# **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

# Evoke Pharma, Inc.

Date: August 8, 2019

Date: August 8, 2019

By: /s/ David A. Gonyer

David A. Gonyer

President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

By: /s/ Matthew J. D'Onofrio

Matthew J. D'Onofrio

Executive Vice President, Chief Business Officer, Treasurer and

Secretary

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

# CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

#### I, David A. Gonyer, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Evoke Pharma, Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
- a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
- b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
- c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
- d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
- a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
- b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 8, 2019 /s/ David A. Gonyer

David A. Gonyer President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

# CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

#### I, Matthew J. D'Onofrio, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Evoke Pharma, Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
- a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
- b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
- c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
- d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
- a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
- b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 8, 2019

/s/ Matthew J. D'Onofrio
Matthew J. D'Onofrio
Executive Vice President, Chief Business Officer,
Treasurer and Secretary
(Principal Financial Officer)

### CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the quarterly report of Evoke Pharma, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2019 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, David A. Gonyer, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
- (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: August 8, 2019

/s/ David A. Gonyer

David A. Gonyer President and Chief Executive Officer

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely to accompany the Report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, and is not being filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company, whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing. A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

### CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the quarterly report of Evoke Pharma, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2019, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Matthew J. D'Onofrio, Executive Vice President, Chief Business Officer, Treasurer and Secretary of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
- (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: August 8, 2019

/s/ Matthew J. D'Onofrio

Matthew J. D'Onofrio Executive Vice President, Chief Business Officer, Treasurer and Secretary

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely to accompany the Report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, and is not being filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company, whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing. A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.